Respiratory Medicine (2006) 100, 1688-1705



REVIEW

respiratoryMEDICINE 🔙

Autonomic nervous system control of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems in asthma

M.J. Lewis^{a,*}, A.L. Short^a, K.E. Lewis^b

^aDepartment of Sports Science, University of Wales Swansea, Singleton Park, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK ^bSwansea School of Medicine, University of Wales Swansea, Singleton Park, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK

Received 9 August 2005; accepted 25 January 2006

KEYWORDS

Asthma; Autonomic nervous system; Cardiovascular; Bronchodilator; Anticholinergic; Sympathomimetic **Summary** Patients with asthma have exaggerated bronchoconstriction of their airways in response to certain indirect (e.g. cold air, allergens, dust, exercise) or direct (e.g. inhaled methacholine) stimuli. This 'hyper-reactivity' usually co-exists with airway inflammation, although the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying these changes are not fully understood. It is likely that this hyper-reactivity is associated with abnormal autonomic nervous system (ANS) control. In particular, the parasympathetic (vagal) component of the ANS appears to be implicated in the pathogenesis of asthma. In addition, several studies have suggested the existence of differential alteration in ANS function following exercise in asthmatics compared with non-asthmatic individuals.

Several early studies suggested that the altered autonomic control of airway calibre in asthma might be reflected by a parallel change in heart rate. Cardiac vagal reactivity does indeed appear to be increased in asthma, as demonstrated by the cardiac response to various autonomic functions tests. However, other studies have reported a lack of association between bronchial and cardiac vagal tone, and this is in accord with the concept of system-independent ANS control.

This review provides a discussion of cardiovascular–autonomic changes associated with either the pathophysiology of asthma per se or with asthma pharmacotherapy treatment. Previous investigations are summarised suggesting an apparent association between altered autonomic–cardiovascular control and bronchial asthma. The full extent of autonomic dysfunction, and its clinical implications, has yet to be fully determined and should be the subject of future investigation. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

*Corresponding author. Tel.: 01792 513043; fax: 01792 513171. *E-mail address*: m.j.lewis@swansea.ac.uk (M.J. Lewis).

0954-6111/ $\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2006.01.019

Mechanisms of airway control	689
Mechanisms of cardiac control	690
Relative influence of NO in the bronchial and cardiac systems	691
Review of the literature	691
Methodology	691
Results	691
The role of the autonomic nervous system in asthma	691
Interaction between the cardiac and respiratory systems in asthma	696
Impact of pharmacological agents on the cardiovascular system in asthma	696
Cardiovascular influence of β -adrenoceptor agonists in asthmatic patients	697
Influence of anticholinergic drugs	699
Discussion	700
References	701

Introduction

The term 'asthma' encompasses several distinct disease phenotypes leading to differences in diagnostic classification. The most widely accepted definition is 'a chronic inflammatory disorder of the airways ... usually associated with widespread but variable airflow obstruction and an increase in airway response to a variety of stimuli'.¹ About 5.2 million people in the UK have asthma, causing about 69,000 hospital admissions and 1400 deaths in 2003/2004 with an estimated direct cost to the National Health Service of £889 million.² Asthma also causes a lot of morbidity with over 70% of sufferers experiencing regular restrictions in their activity.²

Patients with asthma undergo episodes of exaggerated bronchoconstriction in response to a wide variety of exogenous and endogenous stimuli (for example cold air, organic/inorganic allergens including dust or exercise). Recent guidelines have emphasised the roles of certain allergens and their avoidance in managing asthma.³ This 'hyper-reactivity' is generally co-existent with (biopsy proven) airway inflammation and is associated with altered sensory neuronal activity. The pathophysiological mechanism underlying these changes is not fully understood but it is often triggered by allergens and is typified by the presence of eosinophils and T_{H2} -type immune processes. It is likely that this mechanism is associated with the abnormal autonomic nervous system (ANS) control observed in asthmatic subjects.⁴ In particular, the parasympathetic component of the ANS appears to be implicated in the pathogenesis of asthma. The parasympathetic nervous system is involved in the bronchoconstriction that occurs during physical exercise in both asthmatic and non-asthmatic subjects,⁵ the bronchoconstriction response to altered airway temperature and/or airway surface osmolarity.⁶ In addition, several studies have suggested the existence of differential autonomic function following exercise in asthmatics compared with normal controls.⁷⁻¹⁰

Cardiac vagal activity also appears to be increased in asthma, as demonstrated by the exaggerated cardiac response (bradycardia) to anticholinergic drugs, methacholine and antigen challenge seen in asthmatic subjects.^{11,12} It has therefore been suggested that there might be an intrinsic relationship between cardiac and bronchial autonomic control, and that this relationship might be altered in asthmatic individuals.¹³ However, vagal regulation of resting bronchomotor tone depends on reflexes initiated in irritant airway receptors, 14,15 whilst vagal activity to the heart occurs in response to arterial baroreceptors.^{16,17} This apparent independence of vagal control suggests that bronchial and cardiac vagal activities would be unrelated. In accordance with this concept of system-independent ANS control, some authors have reported a lack of association between changes in ANS control in the cardiac and respiratory systems. For example, Horváth et al.¹⁸ found no correlation between bronchial and cardiac vagal tone (assessed using airway resistance and heart beat period) in non-atopic healthy adults. However, there is also a considerable body of evidence suggesting that numerous cardiovascular parameters are altered as a result of either pathophysiological changes or the administration of therapeutic medication in asthma.

Mechanisms of control in the respiratory and cardiac systems

Mechanisms of airway control

Pre-ganglionic parasympathetic nerve fibres project to the airways via the vagus nerves. They form cholinergic synapses with post-ganglionic neurons via airway parasympathetic ganglia. Airway parasympathetic ganglia are mainly associated with the larger airways but the subsequent post-ganglionic fibres innervate structures throughout the airway tree.¹⁹ Post-ganglionic parasympathetic cholinergic and non-adrenergic non-cholinergic (NANC) fibres innervate (i) airway smooth muscle, providing the dominant control of smooth muscle tone and thus airway calibre, and (ii) airway glands and microvasculature in the respiratory tract. There is no sympathetic innervation of airway smooth muscle, although the airway vasculature does receive sympathetic innervation. Instead, relaxant innervation of the human airways is provided by the NANC component of the parasympathetic nervous system, and transmission at smooth muscle synapses appears to involve both nitric oxide (NO) and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP). Figure 1 illustrates the anatomical and functional organisation of the ANS and NANC system in the heart and airways; the influence of asthma on the function of these systems is also shown.

Mechanisms of cardiac control

Neural regulation of heart rate (HR) takes place as a result of the interplay between sympathetic and parasympathetic modulation of the electrical



Figure 1 Anatomical and functional organisation of the autonomic nervous system and NANC system in the heart and airways. The influence of asthma on the function of these systems is also shown. (CN X—tenth cranial nerves; CG—cervical ganglia; T1, T5—first, tenth thoracic vertebrae; β_1 —beta-1 adrenoceptor; β_2 —beta-2 adrenoceptor; M—muscarinic receptor; NANC—non-adrenergic and non-cholinergic system. *Note*: There is no sympathetic innervation of airway smooth muscle but airway vasculature does receive sympathetic innervation.)

activity of the sinoatrial (SA) node. The temporal investigation of HR regulation is commonly referred to as HR variability (HRV) analysis, and this can be achieved using a variety of data processing technigues in both the time and frequency domains. The sympathetic and parasympathetic components of the ANS influence the HRV signal in a frequencydependant way: the high-frequency (HF) component of the HRV signal (in the range 0.15-0.4 Hz) are mediated via the parasympathetic system; (ii) the low-frequency (LF) component (in the range 0.04–0.15 Hz) are mediated via both sympathetic and parasympathetic systems.²⁰⁻²² Of particular interest in the present context, the HF component is associated with HR modulation caused by respiratory influence.²³ These respiratory effects are often described as 'respiratory sinus arrhythmia' (RSA), the phenomenon of HR modulation that occurs at the frequency of respiration. RSA is the pattern of rhythmic variation of HR that occurs at the frequency of respiration, and which is mediated by the vagus nerve.²⁴ The HF component of HRV is also influenced by respiratory tidal volume, and this effect may be separately distinguished as 'breath amplitude sinus arrhythmia' (BASA).²³

Relative influence of NO in the bronchial and cardiac systems

Excitatory NANC mechanisms (e.g. the neuropeptides neurokinin A, calcitonin gene-related peptide, substance P, bradykinin, tachykinin, neuropeptide Y) cause bronchoconstriction, microvascular leakage and mucous hyper-secretion.²⁵⁻²⁷ Inhibitory NANC mechanisms (NO and VIP) constitute the only known neural bronchodilator pathway in human airways. Both NO and VIP inhibit the release of acetylcholine and relax human isolated bronchial tissue.^{25,28} In contrast. NO enhances both the activity of central vagal motorneurons²⁹ and the cardiac response to vagal stimulation.^{30,31} Several authors have also suggested that NO is a sympatholytic agent in animals, i.e. it reduces the activity of sympathoexcitatory brain stem nuclei and central sympathetic outflow³²⁻³⁴ and it attenuates the cardiac response to sympathetic stimulation.³¹ Chowdhary et al.³⁵ provided the first evidence of a substantive effect of NO on human cardiac autonomic control. In that study systemic inhibition of NO synthase using N^{G} monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) was associated with an increase in HR and a reduction in HRV. The opposite effect was noted following infusion of the NO donor sodium nitroprusside. These authors concluded that NO has a tonic excitatory influence on baroreflex-mediated cardiac vagal activity.

Review of the literature

Methodology

Studies that investigated cardiovascular physiological changes resulting from the pathophysiology of asthma or the pharmacological effects of asthma medication were sought from the published literature. Studies included in the review fulfilled the following criteria: either (i) they described a gualitative or guantitative investigation of cardiovascular physiological parameters in asthmatic and/or atopic individuals, or (ii) they described the effects of pharmaceutical agents used in the management of asthma, in individuals with or without asthma or atopy. Studies that involved either adults or children were included. Articles that only described respiratory or other systemic changes in asthma or asthma therapy, but did not otherwise satisfy the admission criteria, were excluded from the review.

A systematic search of the literature was performed using a selection of electronic literature databases (PubMed, BIDS, CINAHL). The keywords shown in Table 1 were used to filter relevant publications, using keyword combinations constructed as 'Levels 1 and 2'. Citation tracking was performed from the articles obtained via the databases, yielding a second source of references. A total of 23 studies satisfied the eligibility criteria for the review. Table 2 provides a synopsis of the main characteristics of each of the relevant studies.

Results

The role of the autonomic nervous system in asthma

Asthma is associated with abnormal ANS function (dysautonomia) in adults.⁴ This is exhibited as: (i) a marked bronchial hyper-sensitivity to cholinergic and NANC constrictors, and (ii) a decreased sensitivity to adrenergic and NANC dilators.^{36,37}

Cholinergic responsiveness. The bronchi are tonically constricted at rest³⁸ owing to inspiratory reflex cholinergic activity.^{14,39} There is evidence that tonic parasympathetic (vagal) activity is largely responsible for the maintenance of this resting airway calibre.^{10,40,41} The parasympathetic nervous system also has a role in reflex bronchoconstriction⁴² and it is generally accepted that this effect is exaggerated in asthmatics, causing a hyper-responsiveness to cold air, rapid breathing, sulphur dioxide, citric acid and histamine. Asthmatic airways are hyper-reactive and respond to

Table 1Combinations of terms used to searchthe electronic literature databases (MeSH indicatesthat the term is a medical subject heading).

Level 1	Level 2
Asthma (MeSH) or asthmatic Hypersensitivity (MeSH) or atopy or atopic	 Autonomic or autonomic nervous system (MeSH) or ANS Sympathetic nervous system (MeSH) Parasympathetic nervous system (MeSH) Heart (MeSH) or cardiac or cardiovascular system (MeSH) Heart (MeSH) or cardiac or cardiovascular system (MeSH) Blood pressure (MeSH) Pressoreceptors (MeSH) or baroreceptor or BRS Heart rate (MeSH) or heart rate variability or HRV Autonomic pathways (MeSH) or nerves or nervous system (MeSH) (Cholinergic or muscarinic or adrenergic) and (agents or agonists or antagonists) (MeSH) Sympathomimetics (MeSH) or sympathomimetic or anticholinergic Adrenal cortex hormones (MeSH) or corticosteroid or glucocorticosteroid

doses of inhaled methacholine or carbachol (cholinergic agonists) that do not affect normal subjects.⁴ Specific antigen challenge also causes immediate bronchoconstriction followed by hyperreactivity.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ Animal experiments have abolished both bronchoconstriction and hyper-reactivity by vagotomy or vagal blockade.⁴⁶ Cholinergic (parasympathetic) hyper-sensitivity can occur in different body systems, being exhibited as exaggerations in smooth muscle tone, pulmonary blood flow, endothelial permeability, airway secretions⁴⁷ or sweating (eccrine gland response).48 Enhanced cholinergic airway responsiveness has even been suggested as a contributing factor to the development of bronchial asthma.13,49 The abnormally increased airway tone and hyper-reactivity in asthma49,50 might be caused by either (i) an increased release of acetylcholine from nerves, or (ii) increased sensitivity of the post-junctional muscarinic receptors. Anticholinergic drugs such as atropine and ipratropium diminish both the increased constrictive tone and the airway hyperreactivity in asthmatic individuals, 36,51,52 thereby confirming the cholinergic nature of the hypersensitivity. Ipratopium bromide has been used in the management of acute asthma.³

Adrenergic responsiveness. In addition to exaggerated cholinergic reactivity, changes in adrenergic activity have also been documented in asthmatic subjects. Kaliner et al.⁴ compared the response of allergic asthmatic, allergic rhinitic, allergen-sensitive and normal control subjects to alpha (α) adrenergic, beta (β) adrenergic and cholinergic stimuli. These authors observed that asthmatic subjects had hyper-reactive α -adrenergic responsiveness and hypo-reactive β -adrenergic responsiveness. Furthermore, there are four types of β receptor⁵³; of these both β_1 and β_2 adrenoceptors are found in the lung but β_2 is the most important and most widely expressed, as demonstrated by autoradiographic imaging.54 Indeed one of the cornerstones of contemporary asthma therapy is the β_2 -adrenoceptor agonist (e.g. salbutamol), the function of which is to stimulate β_2 -adrenergic receptors in the lung and thus produce bronchodilation. β_1 receptors in the lung are confined to glands and alveoli and therefore β_1 -adrenoceptor agonists do not relax airway smooth muscle.

NANC responsiveness. Although the evidence for clinically significant NANC dysfunction in asthma is not yet conclusive, there is reason to believe that inhibitory NANC mechanisms might be reduced and excitatory NANC mechanisms might be increased in asthma.^{25,55} Several possible mechanisms have been proposed in support of an altered NANC responsiveness in asthma, and this dysfunction might be expected to exaggerate bronchoconstriction in asthmatic individuals.

NO (one of the inhibitory NANC mediators) is widely distributed in the body, functioning as a messenger in a variety of biological processes. NO is broken down by oxygen free radicals associated with inflammatory cells,⁵⁶ thereby degrading its bronchodilatory effect. There is evidence that exhaled NO levels correlate with markers of asthma disease control such as eosinophil concentration determined from bronchial biopsy and bronchial lavage.⁵⁷ Notably, the distinction between atopic, asthmatic and atopic-asthmatic individuals seems to be important in this regard. It is also possible that dysregulation of NO production alters the control of blood flow in the lungs and airways, and thus contributes to the pathogenesis of asthma.⁵⁸ Similarly, the enzymatic degradation of VIP might be enhanced in severe asthma, for example as a result of the release of tryptase from mast cells.²⁵

Table 2 Studie	s fulfilling the inclusion c	criteria for the review.				
Author	Investigation	Study drug	Sample size (M/F)	Age range (mean) (years)	Sample characteristics	Variables measured
Leitch et al. ¹¹¹	Cardiovascular and biochemical response to β_2 -agonist	Salbutamol (IV 10 µg min ⁻¹ for one hour)	7 (M)	25-35	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	Ventilation, HR, plasma potassium, plasma glucose, serum insulin
Kaliner et al. ⁴	Cardiovascular, respiratory and biochemical response to \circ and β adreneric and	Allergen (skin test) ×	1: 9 (M), 13 (F) 2: 12 (M), 12 (F)	1: (32.0) 2: (26.9)	1: Mild allergic asthma (positive skin test to allergen) 2: Allergic rhinitis (no asthma)	Mydriasis (pupillary dilation), cutaneous blood flow (radioactive xenon), BP (IV catheter), cAMP (radioimmunoasav), FEV,
	cholinergic stimuli		3:2 (M), 6 (F) 4:20 (M), 37 (F)	3: (20.3) 4: (23.0)	3: Pre-allergic (positive skin test to allergen)4: Normal controls (no asthma, negative skin test to allergen)	
Scheinin et al. ⁷⁹	Cardiovascular and biochemical response to β_2 -agonist	Fenoterol, salbutamol (inhaled). Three doses for each drug (1200, 1800 and 2400 µg), more than 1 week apart.	6 (M)	22-26	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	ECG (QRS duration, T wave amplitude), HR, BP (automated oscillometric device, Nippon Colin). Blood samples: plasma potassium, plasma sodium, cAMP, endogenous adrenaline, noradrenaline
Morrison et al. ⁶⁹	Cardiovascular and respiratory response to anticholinergic drug	Atropine (IV 30 $\mu g kg^{-1})$	10	26–54	Asthma, 6 subjects also atopic. Diurnal variation in PEF > 20% for preceding two weeks	PEFR and HR at 4 am and 4 pm
Shah et al. ⁶¹	Cardiovascular response to anticholinergic drug	Atropine (IV)	Asthmatic: 33 (M), 17 (F), 9 atopic, 41 non-atopic Controls: 13(M), 7(F)	(33) (asthma) (32) (control)	Bronchial asthma. No medication affecting ANS or HR for preceding two weeks. No cardiac, pulmonary CNS, PNS or ANS disease	Spirometry, FEV., FVC, PEFR, HR. Sympathetic tests: postural BP response; sustained handgrip test. Parasympathetic tests: respiratory sinus arrhythmia (deep breathing); Valsalva HR response; carotid massage response; atropine test; postural HR response
Garrard et al. ⁶²	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist	None	29 (10 healthy, 9 asymptomatic asthmatics, 10 asthmatics)	19-46 (29.7)	Asthmatic	FEV ₁ , FVC, ECG (HR), HRV, respiratory impedance (plethysmography)
Bremner et al. ¹⁰⁰	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist	Hexoprenaline and Salbutamol (inhaled, $5 \times 200 \mu g$ doses administered at 15 min intervals)	4 (M), 8 (F)	20–38 (29)	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	Electromechanical systole, BP (automatic cuff), ECG and QTc, plasma potassium

Table 2 (continued)						
Author	Investigation	Study drug	Sample size (M/F)	Age range (mean) (years)	Sample characteristics	Variables measured
Lehrer et al. ¹¹⁸	Cardiovascular and respiratory response to anticholinergic drug	Ipratropium bromide (inhaled), Saline (placebo)	13 (M), 18 (F)	18-40	Asthmatic. No other respiratory, cardiovascular or neurological disease and no psychoactive medication	Spirometry (flow volume curves, FEV1, FVC), ECG, HRV
Horváth et al. ¹⁸	Cardiovascular and respiratory response to complete pharmacological cholinergic blockade. Relationship between bronchial and cardiac vagal tone	Atropine	7(M), 5(F)	18–52 (27)	Non-asthmatic and non-atopic healthy subjects	Airway resistance, lung volume, thoracic gas volume (whole body plethysmography). HR and BP (automated sphygmomanometer)
Jartti et al.%	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist	Salbutamol, Terbutaline, Salmeterol	Asthmatic: 7 (M), 3 (F) Asthmatic (no medication): 4(M), 5(F) Non- asthmatic: 4(M), 6(F)	9–11	Asthmatic and non-asthmatic	ECG (RR), continuous BP (Ohmeda), HRV, BPV, BRS, flow- volume spirometry
Jartti et al. ⁷⁵	Cardiovascular and respiratory response to β_2 -agonist	Salbutamol (600 µg inhaled)	5(M), 3(F)	(10.5)	Asthmatic and non-asthmatic	HRV, beat-to-beat BPV, BRS, flow spirometry
Parlow et al. ¹¹⁶	Cardiovascular response to anticholinergic drug	IV atropine (20μg kg ⁻¹) or Glycopyrrolate (8μg kg ⁻¹)	4	Not specified	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects. No cardiovascular, respiratory, endocrine or neurological disease. No medication affecting the cardiovascular system	ECG, HR, HRV, BRS, continuous BP (Finapres), respiratory rate
Jartti et al. ⁷⁸	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist (LABA) administered over four weeks and to β_2 -agonist (SABA)	Salmeterol (50 µg twice- daily), Salbutamol (single 600 µg dose)	7(M), 4(F)	8.8–12.1 (10.5)	Stable asthma	HR, HRV, PEFR
Jartti et al. ⁹⁷	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist	Terbutaline	6 (M)	(24)	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	HRV, BRS

Rossinen et al. ¹⁰⁵	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist in co- existing coronary artery disease and asthma	Salbutamol (inhaled)	19 (M), 5 (F)	47-73 (62)	Patients with coronary artery disease and asthma, taking a variety of medication	Ambulatory ECG, BP, HRV. Cycle ergometry, spirometry, PEFR, chest radiograph,
Hanratty et al. ⁹⁸	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist and β_2 - antagonist	Salbutamol (8 mg), ICl 118,551 (25 mg), salbutamol (8 mg) plus ICl 118,551 (25 mg)	17 (M)	(30)	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	Ambulatory ECG, HR, HRV
Scheinin et al. ¹²⁹	Cardiovascular response to anticholinergic drugs	IV Atropine Sulphate (10 μg kg ⁻¹), Glycopyrronium bromide (5 μg kg ⁻¹), Scopolamine hydrobromide (5 μg kg ⁻¹), physiological saline (placebo). Glucose infusions	8(M)	21–26	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	ECG, HRV, BP (periodic automated sphygmomanometer), flow spirometry. PK-PD modelling of plasma drug concentrations
Fujii et al. ¹⁰	Investigated autonomic regulation of the heart following exercise	None	Asthmatic: 11 (M), 4 (F) Controls: 5 (M), 2 (F)	6–15 (11)	Asthmatic group free from other significant medical conditions	FEV ₁ , HR, BP (intermittent cuff), SaO ₂
Guhan et al. ¹⁰²	Cardiovascular and respiratory response to β_2 -agonist	Formoterol (MDI, 24, 48 or 96 μg) and Salmeterol (MDI, 100, 200 or 400 μg)	11 (M), 5 (F)	19–56	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	ECG, HR, QTc, systolic and diastolic BP (automated sphygmomanometer), venous plasma potassium and glucose concentrations, pulse oximetry
Eryonucu et al. ⁸⁷	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist	Salbutamol (200 µg inhaled) and Terbutaline (500 µg inhaled)	9 (M), 11 (F)	28-47 (37)	Asthmatic	HR, HRV
Burggraaf et al ¹⁰⁹	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist during hypoxia	Inhaled Salbutamol (800 µg)	8 (M)	21-26	Mild asthma	Forearm blood flow (computerised venous occlusion plethysmography). ECG, QTc, SpO ₂ , oscillometric mean arterial BP, serum potassium
Penttila et al. ¹³⁰	Cardiovascular response to anticholinergic drug	Glycopyrrolate (IV)	8 (M)	19–29	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	ECG, HR, HRV, respiratory rate
Kuusela et al. ¹⁰³	Cardiovascular response to β_2 -agonist	Terbutaline	6 (M)	(24)	Non-asthmatic healthy subjects	ECG, continuous BP (Ohmeda), air flow
Abbreviations: ANS 3c,5c-cyclic monop PEFR, peak expira	, autonomic nervous system; hosphate; FEV1, forced expli- tory flow rate; PK-PD, pha districtions, 500, activity pha	BP, blood pressure; BPV, blo ratory volume in 1s; FVC, fo armoacokinetic-pharmacody	od pressure vari rce vital capaci namic; PNS, pe	ability; BRS, barore ty; HR, heart rate; rripheral nervous s	eceptor reflex sensitivity; CNS, cent HRV, heart rate variability; IV, intra system; QT _c , heart rate-corrected	ral nervous system; cAMP, adenosine avenous; MDI, metered dose inhaler; QT interval (period of ventricular

induced asthma.

More recently there has been discussion of the link between exercise-induced bronchoconstriction and NO in patients with asthma. Kanazawa et al.⁵⁹ found that episodes of bronchoconstriction in susceptible patients were associated with increased sputum concentrations of NO derivatives, and excess NO production was associated with prolonged airway narrowing. Moreover, inhibition of NO synthesis reduces airway constriction following exercise.⁶⁰ These results suggest that NO has an important role in the pathogenesis of exercise-

Interaction between the cardiac and respiratory systems in asthma

Heart rate and its variability. Kallenbach et al.¹³ suggested that altered autonomic control of airway calibre in asthma might be reflected by a parallel change in HR. Several authors later reported tendencies towards higher resting HRs in asthmatic subjects compared with non-asthmatic controls.^{61,62} Garrard et al.⁶² found that resting HR was significantly higher in acute asthmatics compared with both non-asthmatics and asymptomatic asthmatics. The observed increase in HR suggested an increased sympathetic tone and higher levels of circulating catecholamines in the asthmatic individuals.⁶³ Shah et al.⁶¹ tested sympathetic response by observing the systemic (HR and blood pressure (BP)) responses to a sustained hand grip test and to a change of posture. These authors found that there was a tendency for asthmatic subjects to display an exaggerated fall in systolic BP on standing and an exaggerated rise in diastolic BP in response to a sustained hand grip test.

Tokuyama et al.⁶⁴ observed that both asthma and allergy are associated with increased parasympathetic activity and that asthma causes increased total HRV. Later. Shah et al.⁶¹ assessed basal parasympathetic tone via the rise in HR induced by postural change and atropine administration tests. These authors observed a tendency towards a greater HR response to atropine in asthmatic subjects compared with non-asthmatic controls. Although basal parasympathetic (vagal) tone was not found to differ significantly between these two groups, cardiac vagal *reactivity* was significantly greater in asthma. In fact the authors associated the severity of asthma with the magnitude of vagal reactivity. This was demonstrated by the significantly greater cardiac responses to deep breathing (RSA), Valsalva manoeuvre and carotid massage in asthmatic subjects compared with controls. Vagal reactivity results were similar when subjects were analysed in atopic asthmatic and non-atopic asthmatic subgroups, but vagal tone was significantly greater in the atopic group.

Circadian patterns of autonomic control. The nocturnal worsening of asthma manifests as a reduction in lung function, an increase in bronchial hyper-reactivity and increased wheezing. These changes have been related to diurnal changes in both hormone concentration and ANS control.⁶⁵ Several authors have also documented a circadian pattern in the components of HRV, the LF component having minimal power and the HF component having maximal power during the nocturnal period.66-68 Morrison et al.⁶⁹ investigated the effects of vagal blockade with atropine on both nocturnal peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR) and HR in asthmatic subjects. Atropine administration during the day and night (at 4 am and 4 pm) caused significant bronchodilatation (PEFR increased from 260 to 390 Imin^{-1} at 4 am and from 400 to 440 Imin^{-1} at 4 pm). There was a significant concomitant increase in HR from 60 to $121 \text{ beats min}^{-1}$ at 4 am and from 76 to $122 \text{ beats min}^{-1}$ at 4 pm. The authors noted that nocturnal asthma effects were almost totally reversed by atropine, implying that vagal mechanisms are fundamental in its pathophysiology. Morrison and Pearson⁷⁰ subsequently demonstrated a circadian variation in vagal activity on bronchomotor tone and HR, with higher vagal activity during the night (4 pm) compared with during the day (4 am). It has since been confirmed that cardiac vagal tone is enhanced at a time corresponding to the usual sleep period, with an acrophase between 4 am and 5 am.⁷¹ This corresponds closely with the documented period of maximal bronchoconstriction in nocturnal asthma, suggesting that there might be a common vagal influence in the bronchial and cardiac systems.

Impact of pharmacological agents on the cardiovascular system in asthma

The aims of pharmacological management are the control of symptoms, prevention of exacerbations and the achievement of best possible pulmonary function with minimal side effects.³ Short-acting beta-agonists (SABAs) are prescribed at all levels of severity of asthma as well as in high dose inhaled, nebulised and intravenous routes during acute attacks. In chronic management, about 30% of asthmatics are prescribed SABAs alone, as required (Step 1, BTS Guidelines); about 12% of asthmatics are prescribed a long-acting betaagonist (LABA) as add on therapy when moderate doses of inhaled corticosteroids (200-800 mcg beclomethasone equivalent) do not control their disease (Step 3). A further 6% of asthmatics are prescribed LABAs in conjunction with regular aminophylline/leukotriene antagonists (Step 4) or in addition to regular oral steroids (Step 5).³

Influence of β -adrenoceptor agonists and antagonists in healthy individuals. β -adrenergic stimulation of the human respiratory tract produces several responses of benefit to the asthmatic patient: bronchodilation,⁷² increased water and chloride flux (which might reduce the viscosity of tracheobronchial secretions),⁷³ and impairment of the immunological release of the mediators of allergy.⁷⁴ However, several relatively mild adverse effects of β_2 -adrenoceptor agonists have also been reported, including tremor, palpitations and headache after taking salbutamol.⁷⁵ The main adverse effects of oral and inhaled β_2 agonists relate to their systemic activity following drug absorption into the blood, with subsequent cardiovascular, metabolic and neuronal changes.⁷⁶

Specific potential adverse cardiovascular effects of β_2 -adrenoceptor agonists include: circulatory disturbances via (i) hypokalemia (including electrocardiographic anomalies such as a reduction in amplitude of the T-wave); (ii) prolongation of the cardiac depolarisation-repolarisation (QT) interval and sinus tachycardia⁷⁷; (iii) interference with cardiovascular and respiratory autonomic control.⁷⁸ The cardiovascular actions of β adrenergic agonists result from (i) direct chronotropic and inotropic myocardial influences, and (ii) indirect rate effects resulting from baroreceptor reflex responses to β_2 -mediated dilation of peripheral arterioles.^{79–81} The chronotropic and inotropic effects are mediated via both β_1 and β_2 receptors of the heart.⁸²⁻⁸⁴ However, it is more likely that contractile changes are β_1 effects, whilst HR changes can be either β_2 or both β_1 - and β_2 -mediated.⁸⁵ These potential side effects are clinically relevant with many patients unable to tolerate SABAs and especially LABAs because of palpitations (KEL-pers. comm.).

Most investigations using HRV analysis suggest a shift of the ANS's sympathovagal balance towards sympathetic dominance following administration of β_2 agonist medication.^{78,86,87} Relative sympathetic hyper-activity in the cardiovascular system is in itself associated with increased mortality and morbidity and with an increased risk of sudden coronary death.^{88,89} Consequently it is possible that these drugs might be implicated in the pathogenesis of a number of cardiovascular risk factors, including insulin resistance, hyper-tension and cardiovascular hyper-trophy,⁹⁰ and in the evolution of conditions such as coronary artery disease (CAD) and sudden coronary death. Salpeter et al.⁹¹ have performed a meta analysis of studies evaluating the cardiovascular safety of β_2 agonists in patients with obstructive airway disease, concluding that their use increases the risk for adverse cardiovascular events. There is also some evidence that the systemic effects of inhaled β_2 agonists might be greater in healthy individuals compared with asthmatic patients.⁹²

It is instructive here to also briefly consider the cardiovascular effects of β -adrenoceptor antagonists, and specifically their possible effects in asthmatic individuals. The majority of studies into the effects on cardiac autonomic control of β -adrenoceptor antagonism in cardiovascular disease states have involved β_1 receptor antagonists. The results of these studies suggest a shift in autonomic balance towards enhanced parasympathetic and reduced sympathetic activity, generally acknowledged to be a 'cardioprotective' effect.93,94 However, it has been shown that the administration of β -adrenergic receptor antagonists in asthmatics can induce asthmatic attacks⁹⁵ and increases the bronchoconstrictive response to histamine and methacholine⁹⁶ and clinical guidelines specify that β -adrenergic receptor antagonists are contraindicated in asthma, even in the form of topical eye-drops.³

Cardiovascular influence of β -adrenoceptor agonists in asthmatic patients

Garrard et al.⁶² noted that HR was significantly higher for acute asthmatics than for either nonasthmatic controls or asymptomatic asthmatics. Several authors have since investigated the influence of β_2 -adrenoceptor agonists on HR and HRV parameters in both the time and frequency domains. Each of the main studies has reported an increase in HR in medicated asthmatic subjects compared with non-asthmatic and non-medicated asthmatic controls following administration of these drugs. Mean HR in non-asthmatics is significantly increased following both salbutamol and terbutaline.^{87,97,98} Interestingly, the relative increase in HR following salbutamol in asthmatic children is greater in the supine compared with the standing posture.⁷⁵ Furthermore, Hanratty et al.⁹⁸ found that the time-domain parameters SDANN (an LF analogue), RMSSD and PNN50 (HF analogues) and SDNN (an index of Total HRV) were all significantly reduced in healthy adults following the administration of salbutamol compared with placebo.

Garrard et al.⁶² evaluated HR and frequencydomain HRV parameters (LF, HF, LF/HF powers) in asthmatic adults and normal controls. Subjects were classified as either asymptomatic asthmatic or treated asthmatic, the latter receiving a β_2 -adrenoceptor agonist for acute asthma attacks. Control subjects had significantly greater values of normalised LF power than both asthmatic groups, the latter showing no relative difference in this parameter. The control group also displayed significantly higher values for the LF/HF ratio than asymptomatic asthmatics, with no significant differences between the other groups. In contrast. Jartti et al. found that the LF/HF ratio was significantly greater for both medicated asthmatic children⁹⁹ and adults⁹⁷ compared with controls and non-medicated asthmatics. In addition, Jartti et al.⁹⁷ observed an increase in the LF component of adult asthmatics following medication. A later study by Ervonucu et al.⁸⁷ investigated the specific effects of salbutamol and terbutaline on HRV in adult asthmatic patients. Changes in frequency-domain HRV parameters were similar following administration of the two drugs and confirmed the data of Jartti et al.⁹⁹ in demonstrating a shift to sympathetic dominance: LF and LF/HF ratio were significantly increased after taking each drug. Jartti et al.75 also reported a significant post-drug increase in the LF/HF ratio in children, but observed a reduction in the LF component in the standing posture. Only Jartti et al. found any significant changes (reductions) in the HF component of HRV after taking β_2 agonist medication in adults⁹⁷ and children in the supine posture.⁷⁵ Garrard et al.,⁶² Jartti et al.^{75,97} and Ervonucu et al.⁸⁷ all observed significantly diminished total HRV in asthmatics after taking these drugs.

Bremner et al.¹⁰⁰ observed a tendency for both hexoprenaline and salbutamol to increase systolic BP and to reduce diastolic BP. However, Scheinin et al.¹⁰¹ found no change in BP following salbutamol and fenoterol, whilst Guhan et al.¹⁰² noted a reduction in diastolic BP only following formoterol and salmeterol. In addition to their work on HRV, Jartti et al.⁹⁹ also studied BP variability and BRS in asthmatic and non-asthmatic children. Subjects were assessed in both supine and standing postures and during fixed and spontaneous breathing patterns. It was found that HF (BP) was significantly greater for non-medicated asthmatics compared with non-asthmatics during all posture and breathing conditions. The authors noted that this probably indicated a mechanical respiratory (rather than a vagal control) effect since there was no difference in either HF (RR) or BRS between these groups. LF (BP) during supine spontaneous breathing was significantly greater in the medicated asthmatics than in the other groups. The same researchers⁷⁵ later found a tendency for a dose-dependant postdrug reduction in BRS for children the standing posture. In a subsequent study, Jartti et al.⁹⁷ observed dose-dependant increases in LF (BP) power, LF/HF (BP) ratio, and dose-dependant reductions in BRS following terbutaline administration in healthy adults. The clinical importance of these specific changes is unknown. All variability and BRS changes started to occur only after a threshold terbutaline dose had been reached.

Jartti et al.⁷⁸ investigated the influence on cardiovascular autonomic regulation of a single (acute) dose of a short-acting β_2 agonist (salbutamol) in asthmatic children who had taken a longacting β_2 agonist (salmeterol) twice-daily for the previous 4-week period. In agreement with their previous work, these authors observed a shift to sympathetic dominance in HRV and BPV following regular salmeterol administration. Autonomic function tests performed pre- and 20 min post-administration of the acute salbutamol dose showed that 4 weeks of salmeterol therapy diminished the acute post-salbutamol changes in HR and HRV (shift to sympathetic dominance) but did not affect the bronchial dilation (PEFR) response. This indicated that subjects had developed a slight tolerance to the cardiovascular effects of salmeterol, whilst its therapeutic effect was maintained.

Jartti et al.⁹⁷ also examined the dose-response effects of terbutaline on the complexity (approximate entropy (ApEn) and fractal dimension (FD)) of HR (RR interval) and systolic arterial BP (SAP) signals in healthy adults. Dose-dependant reductions were observed in ApEn (RR), ApEn (SAP) and FD (RR); reductions in FD (SAP) were not dose dependant. Subsequently, Kuusela et al.¹⁰³ used a variety of non-linear data analysis techniques to assess the effects of terbutaline on SAP and RR signals in healthy adults. High doses of terbutaline drastically reduced cardiac parasympathetic modulation and dampened arterial baroreceptor function. The mutual interaction of the BP and RR systems was also weakened following terbutaline administration, so that BP did not modulate HR (i.e. there was no baroreceptor control) in this condition. In fact it was determined that the complexity (ApEn) of the RR signal was maintained post-terbutaline but the BP signal became less complex. Reduced cross-entropy showed that the pattern architecture of the BP and RR signals became more similar after terbutaline, the suggested explanation for which was that, in this state, respiration (an 'external' factor) modulates both RR and BP signals.

It has been suggested that the positive chronotropic, positive inotropic and systolic hyper-tensive effects of β_2 -agonists leads to increased myocardial oxygen consumption,¹⁰⁴ and this might provoke silent myocardial ischaemia or infarction. However, no resultant myocardial ischaemia was observed by Rossinen et al.¹⁰⁵ in their study of the effects of salbutamol in patients with clinically stable asthma co-existent with CAD. It should be noted that, in disagreement with most other studies, these authors also reported a lack of arrhythmias or changes in HRV parameters for the same group of subjects. Gaspardone et al.¹⁰⁶ noted that intravenous administration of salbutamol to patients with CAD who were taking β -blocker medication diminished the time to onset of ischaemia and reduced maximum exercise duration. Inhaled β_2 agonist (salbutamol) treatment has also been associated with myocardial infarction¹⁰⁷ and the β_2 agonist has occasionally caused myocardial injury when administered by infusion during late pregnancy to prevent preterm labour.¹⁰⁸

Burggraaf et al.¹⁰⁹ showed that patients with asthma who were hypoxic and inhaled salbutamol at a relatively low dose experienced significant and potentially detrimental cardiovascular effects. In that study salbutamol was administered 30 min into a 1-h period of mask breathing of ambient air or a N_2/O_2 (hypoxic) mixture. Inhalation of salbutamol during hypoxia resulted in a significant increase in HR and peripheral blood flow (inversely proportional to peripheral vascular resistance) at the end of the assessment period, compared with salbutamol inhalation during normoxia. The reported positive chronotropic effect was in agreement with previous reports of the effects of salbutamol during hypoxaemia¹¹⁰ and during combined hypoxia and hyper-capnia.¹¹¹ In three of the 26 subjects observed by Burggraaf et al.¹⁰⁹ a rapid decline in SpO₂ (arterial oxyhemoglobin saturation measured non-invasively by pulse oximetry) occurred following salbutamol inhalation in the hypoxic state. This was interpreted as an indication of pulmonary shunting, the induction of which had previously been associated with β_2 agonists.¹¹² Burggraaf et al.¹⁰⁹ thereby provided a possible explanation for the association between β_2 agonist use and sudden death in asthma: in the hypoxic state, reduced peripheral resistance might decrease venous return (especially when standing), eliciting the Bezold-Jarisch reflex (hypoxic syncope) with possible subsequent cardiac arrest.¹¹³

Salbutamol has been associated with hypokalaemia (an abnormally low concentration of potassium ions in the blood) following intravenous, oral and inhaled administration.^{79,111,114} Similar changes have been observed after taking fenoterol,⁷⁹ formoterol¹⁰¹ and salmeterol.¹⁰¹ Furthermore, Jartti et al.⁹⁷ suggested that the hypokalaemia observed following terbutaline administration is related to both arrhythmia and decreased HRV. Scheinin et al.⁷⁹ reported a reduction in the ECG Twave amplitude following salbutamol and fenoterol administration in healthy subjects, but observed no change in ORS duration despite an increase in HR after taking these drugs. Bremner et al.¹⁰⁰ found that HR-corrected QT interval (QTc) tended to increase following salbutamol. However, Burggraaf et al.¹⁰⁹ and Crane et al.⁷⁷ found that salbutamol had only a minor effect on OTc (<7% prolongation) and serum potassium level (<5% decrease) during both normoxia and hypoxia. It is therefore possible that inhaled β_2 agonist overdose might have adverse clinical consequences in asthmatic patients with pre-existing hypokalaemia. The risk of hypokalaemia is higher when asthmatics take other drugs e.g. steroids, thiazide or loop diuretics (for hyper-tension) or if there are high circulating levels of endogenous catecholamines (as might be caused by the stress of a serious asthma attack). Patients with concomitant heart disease or those using drugs such as digitalis (which can sensitise the heart to hypokalaemia) might also be at risk. Clinical guidelines recommend monitoring serum potassium, especially during emergency treatment.³ Formoterol is a full LABA and has an onset of action within 6 min with sustained action over 12-24 h: it has now been licensed for top-up or as-required inhalations, as part of a flexible dosing regime is asthma. Any cardiovascular side effects may be

Influence of anticholinergic drugs

drug half-life.

more problematical with repeated doses and a long

Cholinergic receptors in the airways and sinus node are of the muscarinic type and can be blocked by the anticholinergic drugs atropine¹¹⁵ and glycopyrrolate.¹¹⁶ Ipratropium bromide is an antimuscarinic that can be used to provide short-term relief (bronchodilation) in chronic asthma (although short-acting β_2 agonists work more quickly). When taken in aerosol form, ipratropium bromide is generally considered to act locally on the airways of the lung without systemic effect¹¹⁷ and with no significant effect on either cardiac vagal tone or HR.¹¹⁸ Each of these cholinergic and muscarinic receptor antagonists can substantially inhibit or abolish the hyper-reactive response to inhaled stimulants in asthmatics.¹⁹ Administration of atropine or glycopyrrolate is the method of choice for the assessment of tonic vagal activity.^{119,120} Akselrod et al.¹²¹ first demonstrated pharmacological parasympathetic blockade using power spectral analysis of HR data following a single dose of glycopyrrolate in dogs. This dose almost totally abolished the HF peak of HRV, and the effect was later confirmed in adults.¹²² Low doses of atropine can paradoxically have parasympathomimetic effects on the heart, causing a decrease in HR^{18,123} and an increase in beat-to-beat HRV.¹²⁴ Higher doses of atropine cause an increase in HR and a decrease in HRV.^{18,125} The HR reduction at low doses of atropine is believed to be associated with blockade of peripheral muscarinic M₁ receptors at sympathetic ganglia or inhibitory M₁ receptors that modulate acetylcholine release.^{126–128} The increased HR at higher doses is likely to be caused by the blocking of pre-synaptic M₂ muscarinic receptors.²⁵ Parlow et al.¹¹⁶ have since detailed the time course of parasympathetic blockade following the administration of clinical doses of common anticholinergic drugs, whilst Scheinin et al.¹²⁹ have developed a pharmacokinetic pharmacodynamic (PK-PD) model for atropine and glycopyrrolate using radioreceptor array (RRA) and HRV methods.

Scheinin et al.¹²⁹ examined the parasympatholytic effects of atropine and glycopyrrolate with regard to HRV in healthy non-asthmatics subjects. These authors observed the following changes (average values) in comparison with placebo (physiological saline): 22% and 18% increases in HR, respectively; 99% and 94% reductions in HF power, respectively; decreased total and LF power of HRV; 11- and 7-fold increases in the LF/HF ratio of HRV; 87% and 73% reductions in the Havano index. Parlow et al.¹¹⁶ also compared the effects of atropine and glycopyrrolate on HRV and BP in nonasthmatic individuals. Mean cardiac (RR) interval decreased significantly after both atropine and glycopyrrolate, but systolic BP increased after glycopyrrolate only. Atropine and glycopyrrolate caused similar reductions in baroreceptor sensitivity (BRS), HF power and the HF/total power ratio. The authors noted that atropine caused a significantly greater duration of impaired cardiac parasympathetic control (of several hours duration. measured using BRS and HRV) compared with glycopyrrolate. Penttila et al.¹³⁰ later demonstrated that HF power and its time-domain analogues (pNN50 and RMSSD) were almost completely abolished in non-asthmatics following intravenous glycopyrrolate infusion.

Horváth et al.¹⁸ investigated the relationship between bronchial and cardiac vagal tone in nonatopic healthy adults. They examined the correlation between changes in airway resistance and changes in heart period in response to complete pharmacologically induced cholinergic blockade using atropine. The study assumed that the effects of atropine on airway resistance (R_{aw}) and RR interval was entirely due to vagal blockade, thereby allowing an assessment of vagal tone in each system. The authors found that R_{aw} (used as a marker of bronchial vagal activity) and RR interval (used as a marker of cardiac vagal activity) decreased after full doses of atropine. However, there was no correlation between the magnitude of R_{aw} and RR interval, suggesting a lack of association between cardiac and bronchial vagal activity (different central control). Morrison and Pearson⁷⁰ found a strong correlation between the initial responses of airway calibre and HR to vagal blockade, although the bronchodilation effect persisted longer than the cardioacceleration. The authors suggested that this might be the result of differing sensitivities of pulmonary and cardiac muscarinic receptors to anticholinergic antagonists. The newer, long-acting anticholinergic—tiotropium bromide is currently not licensed for use in asthma.

Discussion

There is an apparent association between altered autonomic cardiovascular control and asthma. This relationship is twofold: a consequence of both the pathophysiology of asthma per se and the effects of asthma pharmacotherapy. The full extent of these changes, and their implications, have yet to be fully quantified and their clinical significance may have been overlooked. This autonomic and resultant cardiac dysfunction may even contribute t some sudden and often unexpected deaths in patients with asthma.

Altered autonomic balance in the heart is clearly associated with unfavourable prognosis in established cardiovascular disease.¹³¹ Drugs that oppose cardiac sympathetic stimulation (β -adrenoceptor antagonists or ' β -blockers') improve patient survival following myocardial infarction.¹³² β_1 receptor blockade in cardiovascular disease has been associated with enhanced parasympathetic activity and reduced sympathetic activity (assessed via HRV), and this is generally accepted to confer a 'cardioprotective effect'.¹³³ For example, the increased LF/HF ratio in HRV that accompanies passive orthostatic tilt is diminished after β -receptor blockade.¹³⁴ Conversely, several authors have described a shift of HRV control towards sympathetic dominance and reduced total HRV following β_2 agonist medication in asthma. A shift towards sympathetic dominance in HRV has been associated with mortality and morbidity, and specifically with hyper-tension¹³⁵ and an elevated risk of sudden coronary death.^{136,137} It is therefore possible that bronchodilator therapy might be associated with a detrimental change in the balance of

cardiovascular autonomic function. It must be borne in mind, however, that the relative importance of β_1 and β_2 adrenoceptors in the modulation of autonomic control of the heart (HRV) is not known at present,⁹⁸ and this is certainly an area worthy of further study. (It should be noted that the administration of some β -adrenergic receptor antagonists to asthmatics can induce asthma attacks.¹³⁸)

It would be useful to determine a reliable set of baseline autonomic-cardiovascular indices for the asthmatic condition. The rapid systemic changes observed by Guhan et al.¹⁰² following inhalation of both formoterol and salmeterol suggests that a sizeable amount of drug is absorbed rapidly into the blood. Peak plasma levels of formoterol, for example, apparently occur within five minutes of dose ventilation in normal subjects.¹³⁹ Jartti et al.⁷⁵ noted that the main effects of salbutamol on cardiovascular regulation had almost disappeared 2 h post-inhalation of the drug, although a significant disturbance of sympathovagal balance could still be identified at this time. Baseline autonomic indices should therefore be defined with regard to specified drug administration regimes. Moreover, a physiological model should be developed that incorporates both acute and chronic dynamic changes in these indices (that is, perturbations owing to the effects of chronobiology, antigen challenge or physical exercise). When addressing these issues, future studies will need to separately assess the pathophysiological and pharmacological contributions to altered physiological function in the asthmatic individual.

The early study of Kaliner et al.⁴ demonstrated that both asthmatic and allergic (atopic) individuals are hypo-reactive to β -adrenergic stimuli and hyper-reactive to cholinergic stimuli. In order to determine the origin of these altered sensitivities, investigations should include a comparison of atopic and non-atopic individuals (asthmatics and non-asthmatics). In particular it would be of great clinical value to quantify the autonomic-cardiovascular indices for each of these subject groups.

 β agonists are classified by adrenoceptor selectivity, potency and pharmacological efficiency. All currently available synthetic β_2 agonist bronchodilators are 'good' to 'highly selective' agonists at the β_2 receptor (the exception is isoproterenol (isoprenaline) which is approximately equally active on β_1 and β_2 receptors). The majority of these are also 'partial agonists' in that they activate signal transduction at the receptor less efficiently and to a lesser extent than the natural catecholamine adrenaline. (For further details on β adrenoceptor agonist drugs see Lipworth and Grove.¹⁴⁰)

Despite their apparently similar properties, it would be useful to compare the specific autonomic-cardiovascular influences of each of the main bronchodilators and combination therapies. Bennett et al.¹⁴¹ observed that the majority (of the order two-thirds) of systemic effects of salmeterol inhaled via a metered dose inhaler were the result of drug absorption from the lung, with the remaining one-third from gastrointestinal absorption. Comparison of the relative autonomic-cardiovascular influence of primary routes of absorption for different drugs would be another interesting challenge.

An appropriate standard methodology for the assessment of cardiovascular and respiratory autonomic function now needs to be developed. This is likely to involve the non-invasive, synchronised quantification of HR and BP variabilities, BRS and other beat-to-beat haemodynamic parameters. A patient assessment protocol that involves paced spontaneous breathing (when clinically and stable), standardised static and dynamic exercise, or multiple postural-shift phases, will facilitate provocation of state changes in the autonomic, cardiovascular and haemodynamic systems. This will facilitate computational modelling of both normal cardiovascular-respiratory ANS activity in asthma and it's treatment. The development of advanced power spectral and non-linear analysis techniques, as described by Jartti et al.⁹⁷ and Kuusela et al.¹⁰³ are likely to be instrumental in this goal.

It is now timely and technologically feasible to elucidate specific ANS changes in asthma and, importantly, to determine the clinical implications of these changes. Autonomic-cardiovascular investigation should be a priority focus in future asthma research.

Conflict of interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest with regard to the work presented in this review.

References

- International Consensus Report on the diagnosis and treatment of asthma. National Heart Lung and Blood Institutes. National Institutes of Health. Bethesda, MA 20892. Publication no. 92-3091, March 1992. Eur Respir J 1992; 5: 601–47.
- 2. Asthma Audit 2003/4. Asthma UK. www.asthma.org
- British Thoracic Society/Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network Guideline on the management of asthma. *Thorax* 2003; 58(Suppl 1) (and update November 2005).
- 4. Kaliner M, Shelhamer JH, Davis PB, Smith LJ, Venter JC. Autonomic nervous system abnormalities and allergy. *Ann Intern Med* 1982;**96**:349–57.

- Warren JB, Jennings SJ, Clark TJ. Effect of adrenergic and vagal blockade on the normal human airway response to exercise. *Clin Sci (London)* 1984;66(1):79–85.
- McFadden Jr ER, Lenner KAM, Strohl KP. Postexertional airway rewarming and thermally induced asthma. New insights into pathophysiology and possible pathogenesis. *J Clin Invest* 1986;**78**:18–25.
- Barnes PJ, Brown MJ, Silverman M, Dollery CT. Circulating catecholamines in exercise and hyperventilation induced asthma. *Thorax* 1981;36(6):435–40.
- Warren JB, Keynes RJ, Brown MJ, Jenner DA, McNicol MW. Blunted sympathoadrenal response to exercise in asthmatic subjects. Br J Dis Chest 1982;76(2):147–50.
- Inman MD, Watson RM, Killian KJ, O'Byrne PM. Methacholine airway responsiveness decreases during exercise in asthmatic subjects. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990;141:1414–7.
- Fujii H, Fukutomi O, Inoue R, Shinoda S, Okammoto H, Teramoto T, et al. Autonomic regulation after exercise evidenced by spectral analysis of heart rate variability in asthmatic children. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000; 85:233–7.
- Okayama M, Yafuso N, Nogami H, Lin YN, Horio S, Hida W, et al. A new method of inhalation challenge with propranolol: comparison with methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction and role of vagal nerve activity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1987;80(3 Pt 1):291–9.
- Crimi N, Palermo F, Oliveri R, Polosa R, Settinieri I, Mistretta A. Protective effects of inhaled ipratropium bromide on bronchoconstriction induced by adenosine and methacholine in asthma. *Eur Respir J* 1992;5(5):560–5.
- Kallenbach JM, Webster T, Dowdeswell R, Reinach SG, Scott Milar RN, Zwi S. Reflex heart rate control in asthma: evidence of parasympathetic overactivity. *Chest* 1985; 87(5):644–8.
- Jammes Y, Mei N. Assessment of the pulmonary origin of bronchoconstrictor vagal tone. J Physiol 1979;291:305–16.
- Nadel JA, Widdicombe JG. Reflex effects of upper airway irritation on total lung resistance and blood pressure. *J Appl Physiol* 1962;17:861–5.
- Spyer KM. Central nervous integration of cardiovascular control. J Exp Biol 1982;100:109–28.
- Kollai M, Jokkel G, Bonyhay I, Tomcsanyi J, Naszlady A. Relation between baroreflex sensitivity and cardiac vagal tone in humans. *Am J Physiol* 1994;266(1 Pt 2):H21–7.
- Horváth I, Argay K, Herjavecz I, Kollai M. Relation between bronchial and cardiac vagal tone in healthy humans. *Chest* 1995;108(3):701–5.
- 19. Canning BJ, Fischer A. Neural regulation of airway smooth muscle tone. *Respir Physiol* 2001;**125**(1-2):113–27.
- Akselrod S, Gordon D, Ubel FA, Shannon DC, Berger AC, Cohen RJ. Power spectrum analysis of heart rate fluctuation: a quantitative probe of beat-to-beat cardiovascular control. *Science* 1981;213(4504):220–2.
- Akselrod S, Gordon D, Madwed JB, Snidman NC, Shannon DC, Cohen RJ. Hemodynamic regulation: investigation by spectral analysis. *Am J Physiol* 1985;249(4 Pt 2):H867–75.
- Randall DC, Brown DR, Raisch RM, Yingling JD, Randall WC. SA nodal parasympathectomy delineates autonomic control of heart rate power spectrum. *Am J Physiol* 1991;260(3 Pt 2): H985–8.
- 23. Brown TE, Beightol LA, Koh J, Eckberg DL. Important influence of respiration on human R-R interval power spectra is largely ignored. *J Appl Physiol* 1993;**75**(5):2310–7.
- Donchin Y, Caton D, Porges SW. Spectral analysis of fetal heart rate in sheep: the occurrence of respiratory sinus arrhythmia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1984;148(8):1130–5.

- 25. Barnes PJ. Neural mechanisms in asthma. Br Med Bull 1992;48(1):149–68.
- Perretti F, Ballati L, Evangelista S, Argentino-Storino A, Manzini S. Hyperresponsiveness to non-adrenergic, noncholinergic vagal stimulation following multiple antigen challenge in guinea-pigs. *Pulm Pharmacol* 1995;8(1):21–30.
- Ricciardolo FL, Rado V, Fabbri LM, Sterk PJ, Di Maria GU, Geppetti P. Bronchoconstriction induced by citric acid inhalation in guinea pigs: role of tachykinins, bradykinin, and nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(2):557–62.
- Naline E, Bardou M, Devillier P, Molimard M, Dumas M, Chalon P, et al. Inhibition by SR 59119A of isoprenaline-, forskolin- and VIP-induced relaxation of human isolated bronchi. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther* 2000;13(4):167–74.
- 29. Guo FH, Comhair SA, Zheng S, Dweik RA, Eissa NT, Thomassen MJ, et al. Molecular mechanisms of increased nitric oxide (NO) in asthma: evidence for transcriptional and post-translational regulation of NO synthesis. *J Immunol* 2000;**164**:5970–80.
- Barnes PJ, Adcock IM. Transcription factors and asthma. Eur Respir J 1998:221–34.
- Redington AE, Meng QH, Springall DR, Evans TJ, Creminon C, Maclouf J, et al. Increased expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and cyclo-oxygenase-2 in the airway epithelium of asthmatic subjects and regulation by corticosteroid treatment. *Thorax* 2001;56(5):351–7.
- Hamid Q, Springall DR, Riveros-Moreno V, Chanez P, Howarth P, Redington A, et al. Induction of nitric oxide synthase in asthma. *Lancet* 1997;342(8886–8887): 1510–3.
- Owlya R, Vollenweider L, Trueb L, Sartori C, Lepori M, Nicod P, et al. Cardiovascular and sympathetic effects of nitric oxide inhibition at rest and during static exercise in humans. *Circulation* 1997;96:3897–903.
- 34. Ashutosh K. Nitric oxide and asthma: a review. *Curr Opin Pulm Med* 2000;6:21–5.
- 35. Chowdhary S, Vaile JC, Fletcher J, Ross HF, Coote JH, Townend JN. Nitric oxide and cardiac autonomic control in humans. *Hypertension* 2000;**36**:264–9.
- Boushey HA, Holtzman MJ, Sheller JR, Nadel JA. Bronchial hyperreactivity. Am Rev Respir Dis 1980;121(2):389–413.
- 37. Barnes PJ. Neural mechanisms in asthma. Br Med Bull 1992;48(1):149–68.
- Belmonte KE. Cholinergic pathways in the lungs and anticholinergic therapy for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2005;2(4):297–304.
- Kesler BS, Canning BJ. Regulation of baseline cholinergic tone in guinea-pig airway smooth muscle. J Physiol 1999; 518(Pt 3):843–55.
- 40. Nadel JA, Widdicombe JG. Reflex control of airway size. Ann NY Acad Sci 1963;109:712–23.
- Nadel JA, Barnes PJ. Autonomic regulation of the airways. Am Rev Med 1984;35:451–67.
- 42. Nadel JA. Concluding remarks: cough and expectoration. Eur J Respir Dis Suppl 1980;110:257–60.
- Ten Berge RE, Krikke M, Teisman AC, Roffel AF, Zaagsma J. Dysfunctional muscarinic M2 autoreceptors in vagally induced bronchoconstriction of conscious guinea pigs after the early allergic reaction. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1996;318(1): 131–9.
- 44. Evans CM, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB, Gleich GJ, Costello RW. Pretreatment with antibody to eosinophil major basic protein prevents hyperresponsiveness by protecting neuronal M2 muscarinic receptors in antigen-challenged guinea pigs. J Clin Invest 1997;100(9):2254–62.

- 45. McGowan SE, Smith J, Holmes AJ, Smith LA, Businga TR, Madsen MT, et al. Vitamin A deficiency promotes bronchial hyperreactivity in rats by altering muscarinic M(2) receptor function. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2002;**282**(5): L1031–9.
- 46. Costello RW, Evans CM, Yost BL, Belmonte KE, Gleich GJ, Jacoby DB, et al. Antigen-induced hyperreactivity to histamine: role of the vagus nerves and eosinophils. *Am J Physiol* 1999;276(5 Pt 1):L709–14.
- 47. Casale TB. Neuromechanisms of asthma. Ann Allergy 1987;59(6):391-8.
- Kaliner M. The cholinergic nervous system and immediate hypersensitivity. I. Eccrine sweat responses in allergic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1976;58(2):308–15.
- 49. Molfino NA, Slutsky AS, Julia-Serda G, Hoffstein V, Szalai JP, Chapman KR, et al. Assessment of airway tone in asthma. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1993;**148**:1238–43.
- Scalvini S, Porta R, Zanelli E, Volterrani M, Vitacca M, Pagani M, et al. Effects of oxygen on autonomic nervous system dysfunction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J* 1999;13(1):119–24.
- 51. van Noord JA, Bantje TA, Eland ME, Korducki L, Cornelissen PJ. A randomised controlled comparison of tiotropium nd ipratropium in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The Dutch Tiotropium Study Group. *Thorax* 2000;55(4):289–94.
- 52. Jacoby DB. Virus-induced asthma attacks. JAMA 2002;287: 755–61.
- 53. Anderson GP. Interactions between corticosteroids and β -adrenergic agonists in asthma disease induction, progression and exacerbation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2000; **161**:S188–96.
- Carstairs JR, Nimmo AJ, Barnes PJ. Autoradiographic visualization of beta-adrenoceptor subtypes in human lung. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1985;132(3):541–7.
- Heaney LG, Cross LJ, McGarvey LP, Buchanan KD, Ennis M, Shaw C. Neurokinin A is the predominant tachykinin in human bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in normal and asthmatic subjects. *Thorax* 1998;53(5):357–62.
- Belvisi MG, Stretton D, Barnes PJ. Nitric oxide as an endogenous modulator of cholinergic neurotransmission in guinea-pig airways. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1991;198(2-3):219–21.
- 57. Lim S, Jatakanon A, Meah S, Oates T, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Relationship between exhaled nitric oxide and mucosal eosinophilic inflammation in mild to moderately severe asthma. *Thorax* 2000;55:184–8.
- Alving K, Fornhem C, Lundberg JM. Pulmonary effects of endogenous and exogenous nitric oxide in the pig: relation to cigarette smoke inhalation. Br J Pharmacol 1993; 110:739–46.
- 59. Kanazawa H, Hirata K, Yoshikawa J. Role of endogenous nitric oxide in exercise-induced airway narrowing in patients with bronchial asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2000;**106**(6):1081–7.
- 60. Kotaru C, Coreno A, Skowronski M, Ciufo R, McFadden Jr ER. Exhaled nitric oxide and thermally induced asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001;**163**(2):383–8.
- Shah PKD, Lakhotia M, Mehta S, Jain SK, Gupta GL. Clinical dysautonomia in patients with bronchial asthma. *Chest* 1990;**98**(6):1408–13.
- Garrard CS, Seidler A, McKibben A, McAlpine LE, Gordon D. Spectral analysis of heart rate variability in bronchial asthma. *Clin Autonom Research* 1992;2:105–11.
- Barnes PJ, Dollery CT, MacDermot J. Increased pulmonary alpha-adrenergic and reduced beta-adrenergic receptors in experimental asthma. *Nature* 1980;285(5766):569–71.

- Tokuyama K, Morikawa A, Mitsuhashi M, Mochizuki H, Tajima K, Kuroume T. Beat-to-beat variation of the heart rate in children with allergic asthma. J Asthma 1985; 22(6):285–8.
- 65. Busse WW. Pathogenesis and pathophysiology of nocturnal asthma. *Am J Med* 1988;85(1B):24–9.
- 66. Furlan R, Guzzetti S, Crivellaro W, Dassi S, Tinelli M, Baselli G, et al. Continuous 24-h assessment of the neural regulation of systemic arterial pressure and RR variabilities in ambulant subjects. *Circulation* 1990;81(2):537–47.
- Malliani A, Pagani M, Lombardi F, Cerutti S. Cardiovascular neural regulation explored in the frequency domain. *Circulation* 1991;84(2):482–92.
- Lombardi F, Sandrone G, Mortara A, La Rovere MT, Colombo E, Guzzetti S, et al. Circadian variation of spectral indices of heart rate variability after myocardial infarction. *Am Heart J* 1992;123(6):1521–9.
- Morrison JF, Pearson SB, Dean HG. Parasympathetic nervous system in nocturnal asthma. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1988;296(6634):1427–9.
- Morrison JF, Pearson SB. The effect of the circadian rhythm of vagal activity on bronchomotor tone in asthma. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1989;28(5):545–9.
- Hilton MF, Umali MU, Czeisler CA, Wyatt JK, Shea SA. Endogenous circadian control of the human autonomic nervous system. *Comput Cardiol* 2000;27:197–200.
- Webb-Johnson DC, Andrews Jr JL. Drug therapy: Bronchodilator therapy (first of two parts). N Engl J Med 1977; 297(9):476–82.
- Nadel JA. Autonomic control of airway smooth muscle and airway secretions. Am Rev Respir Dis 1977;115(6 Pt 2): 117–26.
- Orange RP, Austen WG, Austen KF. Immunological release of histamine and slow-reacting substance of anaphylaxis from human lung. I. Modulation by agents influencing cellular levels of cyclic 3',5'-adenosine monophosphate. J Exp Med 1971;134(3) (Suppl:136s+).
- Jartti TT, Kaila TJ, Tahvanainen KUO, Kuusela TA, Vanto TT, Valimaki IAT. Altered cardiovascular autonomic regulation after 2-week inhaled salbutamol treatment in asthmatic children. Eur J Pediatr 1997;156:883–8.
- Price AH, Clissold SP. Salbutamol in the 1980s. A reappraisal of its clinical efficacy. *Drugs* 1989;38(1):77–122.
- Crane J, Pearce N, Flatt A, Burgess C, Jackson R, Kwong T, et al. Prescribed fenoterol and death from asthma in New Zealand, 1981–83: case-control study. *Lancet* 1989;1: 917–22.
- Jartti TT, Kaila TJ, Tahvanainen KUO, Kuusela TA, Vanto TT, Valimaki AT. Altered cardiovascular autonomic regulation after salmeterol treatment in asthmatic children. *Clin Physiol* 1998;18(4):345–53.
- Scheinin M, Koulu M, Laurikainen E, Allonen H. Hypokalaemia and other non-bronchial effects of inhaled fenoterol and salbutamol: a placebo-controlled dose-response study in healthy volunteers. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 1987;24:645–53.
- Penna AC, Dawson KP, Manglick P, Tam J. Systemic absorption of salbutamol following nebulizer delivery in acute asthma. Acta Paediatr 1993;82(11):963–6.
- Burgess C, Ayson M, Rajasingham S, Crane J, Della Cioppa G, Till MD. The extrapulmonary effects of increasing doses of formoterol in patients with asthma. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 1998;54(2):141–7.
- Paterson JW, Woolcock AJ, Shenfield GM. Bronchodilator drugs. Am Rev Respir Dis 1979;120(5):1149–88.
- 83. Heitz A, Schwartz J, Velly J. Beta-adrenoceptors of the human myocardium: determination of beta 1 and beta 2

subtypes by radioligand binding. Br J Pharmacol 1983; 80(4):711–7.

- Brodde OE. Beta 1- and beta 2-adrenoceptors in the human heart: properties, function, and alterations in chronic heart failure. *Pharmacol Rev* 1991;43(2):203–42.
- Wellstein A, Belz GG, Palm D. Beta adrenoceptor subtype binding activity in plasma and beta blockade by propranolol and beta-1 selective bisoprolol in humans. Evaluation with Schild-plots. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1988;246(1):328–37.
- 86. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and The North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. *Eur Heart J* 1996; 17:354–81.
- Eryonucu B, Uzun K, Guler N, Bilge M. Comparison of the acute effects of salbutamol and terbutaline on heart rate variability in adult asthmatic patients. *Eur Resp J* 2001; 17:863–7.
- Kleiger RE. Heart rate variability and mortality and sudden death post infarction. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1995; 6(5):365–7.
- Barron HV, Lesh MD. Autonomic nervous system and sudden cardiac death. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27(5):1053–60.
- Palatini P, Julius S. Heart rate and cardiovascular risk. J Hypertens 1997;15:3–17.
- 91. Salpeter SR, Ormiston TM, Salpeter EE. Cardiovascular effects of β-agonists in patients with asthma and COPD: a meta-analysis. *Chest* 2004;**125**:2309–21.
- Bennett JA, Tattersfield AE. Time course and relative dose potency of systemic effects from salmeterol and salbutamol in healthy subjects. *Thorax* 1997;52(5):458–64.
- Molgaard H, Mickley H, Pless P, Bjerregaard P, Moller M. Effects of metoprolol on heart rate variability in survivors of acute myocardial infarction. *Am J Cardiol* 1993; 71(15):1357–9.
- 94. Sandrone G, Mortara A, Torzillo D, La Rovere MT, Malliani A, Lombardi F. Effects of beta blockers (atenolol or metoprolol) on heart rate variability after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 1994;74(4):340–5.
- Grieco MH, Pierson Jr RN. Mechanism of bronchoconstriction due to beta adrenergic blockade Studies with practolol, propranolol, and atropine. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1971;48(3):143–52.
- Ploy-Song-Sang Y, Macklem PT, Ross WR. Distribution of regional ventilation measured by breath sounds. Am Rev Respir Dis 1978;117(4):657–64.
- Jartti TT, Kuusela TA, Kaila TJ, Tahvanainen KU, Välimäki IA. The dose-response effects of terbutaline on the variability, approximate entropy and fractal dimension of heart rate and blood pressure. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 45(3):277–85.
- Hanratty CG, Silke B, Riddell JG. Evaluation of the effect on heart rate variability of a beta2-adrenoceptor agonist and antagonist using non-linear scatterplot and sequence methods. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1999;47(2):157–66.
- Jartti TT, Tahvanainen KUO, Kaila TJ, Kuusela TA, Koivikko AS, Vantio TT, et al. Cardiovascular autonomic regulation in asthmatic children evidenced by spectral analysis of heart rate and blood pressure variability. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1996;**56**:545–54.
- Bremner P, Burgess C, Purdie G, Beasley R, Crane J. The extrapulmonary effects of inhaled hexoprenaline and salbutamol in healthy individuals. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 1993;45:37–9.
- 101. Scheinin M, Koulu M, Laurikainen E, Allonen H. Hypokalaemia and other non-bronchial effects of inhaled fenoterol

and salbutamol: a placebo-controlled dose-response study in healthy volunteers. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 1997;24(5): 645–53.

- 102. Guhan AR, Cooper S, Oborne J, Lewis S, Bennett J, Tattersfield AE. Systemic effects of formoterol and salmeterol: a dose-response comparison in healthy subjects. *Thorax* 2000;**55**(8):650–6.
- 103. Kuusela TA, Jartti TT, Tahvanainen KU, Kaila TJ. Nonlinear methods of biosignal analysis in assessing terbutalineinduced heart rate and blood pressure changes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2002;282:H773–81.
- Chapman KR, Smith DL, Rebuck AS, Leenen FHH. Hemodynamic effects of an inhaled beta-2-agonist. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 1984;35:762–7.
- 105. Rossinen J, Partanen J, Stenius-Aarniala B, Nieminen MS. Salbutamol inhalation has no effect on myocardial ischaemia, arrhythmias and heart-rate variability in patients with coronary artery disease plus asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Intern Med 1998;243(5): 361–6.
- Gaspardone A, Crea F, Kaski JC, Maseri A. Effects of beta 2adrenoceptor stimulation on exercise-induced myocardial ischemia. Am J Cardiol 1991;68(1):111–4.
- 107. Neville A, Palmer JB, Gaddie J, May CS, Palmer KN, Murchison LE. Metabolic effects of salbutamol: comparison of aerosol and intravenous administration. *Br Med* J 1977;1(6058):413–4.
- Katz M, Robertson PA, Creasy RK. Cardiovascular complications associated with terbutaline treatment for preterm labor. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1981;139(5):605–8.
- Burggraaf J, Westendorp RG, in't Veen JC, Schoemaker RC, Sterk PJ, Cohen AF, et al. Cardiovascular side effects of inhaled salbutamol in hypoxic asthmatic patients. *Thorax* 2001;56(7):567–9.
- 110. Kiely DG, Cargill RI, Lipworth BJ. Cardiopulmonary interactions of salbutamol and hypoxaemia in healthy young volunteers. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 1995;**40**(4):313–8.
- 111. Leitch AG, Clancy LJ, Costello JF, Flenley DC. Effect of intravenous infusion of salbutamol on ventilatory response to carbon dioxide and hypoxia and on heart rate and plasma potassium in normal men. *Br Med J* 1976;1(6006): 365–7.
- 112. Gross NJ, Bankwala Z. Effects of an anticholinergic bronchodilator on arterial blood gases of hypoxemic patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease Comparison with a beta-adrenergic agent. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1987;**136**(5):1091–4.
- 113. Westendorp RG, Blauw GJ, Frolich M, Simons R. Hypoxic syncope. *Aviat Space Environ Med* 1997;68(5):410–4.
- 114. Neville E, Corris PA, Vivian J, Nariman S, Gibson GJ. Nebulised salbutamol and angina. *BMJ (Clin Res Ed)* 1982;**285**(6344):796–7.
- Löffelholz K, Pappano AJ. The parasympathetic neuroeffector junction of the heart. *Pharmacol Rev* 1985; 37(1):1–24.
- Parlow JL, van Vlymen JM, Odell MJ. The duration of impairment of autonomic control after anticholinergic drug administration in humans. *Anesth Analg* 1997;84(1):155–9.
- 117. Sweeny GD, MacLeod SM. Anti-allergy and anti-asthma drugs: disposition in infancy and childhood. *Clin Pharmacokin* 1989;17:156–68.
- Lehrer PM, Hochron SM, Rausch L, Carr R. Effects of aerosol ipratropium bromide on cardiac vagal tone. *Chest* 1994;105(6):1701–4.
- 119. Coker R, Koziell A, Oliver C, Smith SE. Does the sympathetic nervous system influence sinus arrhythmia in

man? Evidence from combined autonomic blockade. *J Physiol* 1984;**356**:459–64.

- 120. Fouad FM, Tarazi RC, Ferrario CM, Fighaly S, Alicandri C. Assessment of parasympathetic control of heart rate by a noninvasive method. Am J Physiol 1984;246(6 Pt 2): H838–42.
- 121. Akselrod S, Gordon D, Ubel FA, Shannon DC, Berger AC, Cohen RJ. Power spectrum analysis of heart rate fluctuation: a quantitative probe of beat-to-beat cardiovascular control. *Science* 1981;**213**(4504):220–2.
- 122. Pomeranz B, Macaulay RJ, Caudill MA, Kutz I, Adam D, Gordon D, et al. Assessment of autonomic function in humans by heart rate spectral analysis. *Am J Physiol* 1985;248(1 Pt 2):H151–3.
- 123. Das G, Talmers FN, Weissler AM. New observations on the effects of atropine on the sinoatrial and atrioventricular nodes in man. Am J Cardiol 1975;36(3): 281–5.
- 124. Ali-Melkkilä T, Kaila T, Antila K, Halkola L, Iisalo E. Effects of glycopyrrolate and atropine on heart rate variability. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 1991;**35**(5):436–41.
- 125. Katona PG, Lipson D, Dauchot PJ. Opposing central and peripheral effects of atropine on parasympathetic cardiac control. *Am J Physiol* 1977;232(2):H146–51.
- Meyer EC, Sommers DK. Possible mechanisms of anticholinergic drug-induced bradycardia. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 1988;35(5):503–6.
- 127. Wellstein A, Pitschner HF. Complex dose–response curves of atropine in man explained by different functions of M1- and M2-cholinoceptors. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 1988;338(1):19–27.
- 128. Lambert DG, Appadu BL. Muscarinic receptor subtypes: do they have a place in clinical anaesthesia? *Br J Anaesth* 1995;74(5):497–9.
- 129. Scheinin H, Helminen A, Huhtala S, Gronroos P, Bosch JA, Kuusela T, et al. Spectral analysis of heart rate variability as a quantitative measure of parasympatholytic effect—integrated pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of three anticholinergic drugs. *Ther Drug Monit* 1999; **21**(2):141–51.
- 130. Penttila J, Helminen A, Jartti T, Kuusela T, Huikuri HV, Tulppo MP, et al. Time domain, geometrical and frequency

domain analysis of cardiac vagal outflow: effects of various respiratory patterns. *Clin Physiol* 2001;**21**(3):365–76.

- 131. Spiers JP, Silke B, McDermott U, Shanks RG, Harron DW. Time and frequency domain assessment of heart rate variability: a theoretical and clinical appreciation. *Clin Auton Res* 1993;3(2):145–58.
- Beta-blocker Heart Attack Research Group. A randomized trial of propranolol in patients with acute myocardial infarction I mortality results. JAMA 1992;247(12):1707–14.
- 133. Sandrone G, Mortara A, Torzillo D, La Rovere MT, Malliani A, Lombardi F. Effects of beta blockers (atenolol or metoprolol) on heart rate variability after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 1994;74(4):340–5.
- 134. Montano N, Ruscone TG, Porta A, Lombardi F, Pagani M, Malliani A. Power spectrum analysis of heart rate variability to assess the changes in sympathovagal balance during graded orthostatic tilt. *Circulation* 1994;**90**(4):1826–31.
- 135. Pagani M, Lombardi F, Guzzetti S, Rimoldi O, Furlan R, Pizzinelli P, et al. Power spectral analysis of heart rate and arterial pressure variabilities as a marker of sympathovagal interaction in man and conscious dog. *Circ Res* 1986;59(2):178–93.
- Kleiger RE. Heart rate variability and mortality and sudden death post infarction. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1995; 6(5):365–7.
- Barron HV, Lesh MD. Autonomic nervous system and sudden cardiac death. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27(5):1053–60.
- Grieco MH, Pierson Jr RN. Mechanism of bronchoconstriction due to beta adrenergic blockade. Studies with practolol, propranolol, and atropine. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1971;48(3):143–52.
- Lecaillon JB, Kaiser G, Palmisano M, Morgan J, Della Cioppa G. Pharmacokinetics and tolerability of formoterol in healthy volunteers after a single high dose of Foradil dry powder inhalation via Aerolizer. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 1999;55(2):131–8.
- Lipworth BJ, Grove A. Evaluation of partial beta-adrenoceptor agonist activity. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43(1):9–14.
- 141. Bennett JA, Harrison TW, Tattersfield AE. The contribution of the swallowed fraction of an inhaled dose of salmeterol to it systemic effects. *Eur Respir J* 1999;13(2):445–8.